THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000227
Case No. 2013-CP-42-3915

RECEIVED
APR 26 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Angie Keene, Individually and as Personal
Representative of the Estate of Dennis Seay, Deceased,
and Linda Seay, Respondents,

v.

CNA Holdings, LLC..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Mitchell Brown
A. Mattison Bogan
Michael J. Anzelmo
Blake T. Williams
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

Attorneys for Appellant CNA Holdings, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err by finding that Dennis Seay was not a statutory employee of Celanese and that the Workers' Compensation Act was not his exclusive remedy?
- II. Did the trial court err by denying Celanese's motion for a mistrial where the jury engaged in premature deliberations and considered outside influences?
- III. Did the trial court err by refusing to exclude an unauthorized, inflammatory, and highly prejudicial video of Seay crying out to Jesus for help and by failing to grant Celanese's motion for a mistrial on this basis?
- IV. Did the trial court err by failing to grant a new trial where the damages awarded were grossly excessive?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents/Plaintiffs Angie Keene, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Dennis Seay, Deceased, and Linda Seay (hereinafter “Respondents”) initiated this action on September 26, 2013. (Compl.; R. pp. 70-88.) The Complaint asserted various causes of action against numerous defendants, alleging that they negligently exposed Dennis Seay (“Seay”) to various asbestos containing materials in connection with his work as a millwright at Daniel Construction Company (“Daniel”), resulting in Seay contracting mesothelioma. (*See generally id.*; R. pp. 70-88.) Appellant CNA Holdings, LLC, successor in interest to Hoechst Celanese Corporation (“Celanese”) answered the Complaint and denied any liability to Respondents.¹ (Ans.; R. pp. 89-107.) Respondents amended their Complaint three additional times during the course of the litigation. (*See Third Am. Compl.*; R. pp. 108-17.) Celanese answered each of these Amended Complaints by continuing to deny any liability to Respondents. (*See Ans. to Third Am. Compl.*; R. pp. 118-133.)

On September 11, 2014, Celanese filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim, or in the alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment, along with a Memorandum in Support. (Mot. to Dismiss and Memo. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss; R. pp. 2606-20.) In this motion, Celanese contended that Seay was its “statutory employee” and the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act provided the exclusive remedy for his claims. (Memo. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss at 12-13; R. pp. 2619-20.) Celanese cited to various cases supporting the proposition that maintenance workers like Seay—employed by an outside contractor but working at a facility

¹ In their Complaint, Respondents sued numerous defendants, contending they were all liable in some way for the harm to Seay. However, at the time of trial only John Crane, Inc. (“John Crane”) and Celanese remained as defendants. Because Celanese is the only appellant, the Statement of the Case and Statement of Facts focus on the background and facts relevant to this appeal.

owned by a company like Celanese—are typically found to be statutory employees of the facility owner. (*See id.* at 7-12; R. pp. 2614-19.) Celanese later filed an Amended Motion on May 26, 2015, along with a Memorandum in Support of the Amended Motion. (Am. Mot. to Dismiss; Memo. in Supp. of Am. Mot. to Dismiss; R. pp. 2237-605.)

After the motion was fully briefed, (*see* Memo. in Opp'n to Am. Mot. to Dismiss; Reply in Supp. of Am. Mot. to Dismiss; R. pp. 2117-236), the trial court issued a fully reasoned Order dated July 28, 2015 denying Celanese's motion. (Order Denying Am. Mot. to Dismiss; R. pp. 55-62). In denying the motion the court looked to cases involving transportation and construction workers to support its finding that Seay was not a statutory employee of Celanese. (*See id.* at 2-7; R. pp. 56-61.) The court declined to follow the more factually analogous case law cited by Celanese from the maintenance worker context. (*See id.* at 5-7; R. pp. 51-53.) Instead, the court concluded that several relatively new decisions from South Carolina appellate courts involving transportation workers employed by common carriers were controlling on the issue, and represented a break from prior controlling law. (*Id.* at 3-6; R. pp. 49-52.) Celanese continued to raise the statutory employee argument throughout the litigation without success. (*See* Trial Transcript ("Tr.") pp. 1327:5-1332:6; R. pp. 1511-16 (directed verdict and renewed directed verdict motions).)

Accordingly, the matter proceeded to trial. At the time of trial, the only remaining Defendants were John Crane and Celanese, and the only issue before the trial court was whether they were liable to Respondents for negligence. (*See* Verdict Form; R. pp. 68-69.) The court held an eight day trial between September 28, 2015 and October 8, 2015. (*See* Tr. pp. 1, 444, 762, 1267; R. pp. 185, 628, 946, 1451.)

During the course of the trial, two significant matters of law arose. First, in the middle of the trial Juror #16 came forward and expressed concerns about a conflict of interest. (*Id.* at 514:13-15; R. pp. 698.) The juror explained that he worked at the same facility as Seay doing essentially the same job as Seay and that he disclosed this information to the other jurors. (*See id.* at 515:6-16, 518:4-6, 573:12-574:3; R. pp. 699, 702, 757-58.) He also acknowledged that another member of the jury asked about asbestos, but stated that the jury refrained from discussing it any further. (*Id.* at 574:4-14; R. p. 758.) After receiving this information, the trial court dismissed this juror. (*Id.* at 575:6-8; R. p. 759.) Defendants moved for a mistrial. However, the trial court found that no premature deliberations had occurred and that the Defendants were not prejudiced. (*Id.* at 570:9-573:3, 578:24-579:25; R. pp. 754, 762-63.) Thus, the trial court denied Defendants' motion for a mistrial. (*Id.* at 570:9-573:3, 579:10-20; R. pp. 754-57, 763.)

The other critical matter of law that arose was the introduction of a short video clip of Dennis Seay while he was in hospice care crying out in pain for Jesus to help him. (Video and Audio of Dennis Seay; Rough Transcript from Oct. 8, 2015 p. 874:17-18, Ex. F to Pls.' Resps. to Def.'s Post-Trial Motions; R. pp. 2689-91.) Defendants objected on the basis that the clip was inflammatory and highly prejudicial, and requested that the court strike the video from evidence and/or grant a mistrial. (Tr. pp. 766:6-772:18; R. pp. 950-56.) The trial court, however, denied the motion. (*Id.* at 772:16-18; R. p. 956.)

On October 8, 2015, the jury rendered a defense verdict for John Crane and a verdict finding Celanese liable to Respondents. The jury awarded \$2,000,000 in actual damages for the survival action, \$5,000,000 in actual damages for the wrongful death action, \$5,000,000 in actual

damages for the loss of consortium claim, and \$2,000,000 in punitive damages. (Verdict Form; Judgment; R. pp. 66-69.)

Celanese filed several post-trial motions—for judgment notwithstanding the verdict (“JNOV”), for a new trial absolute, and for a new trial nisi remittitur. (Mot. for JNOV; Mot. for New Trial; Mot. for New Trial Nisi Remittitur; R. pp. 2075-92.) In the motions, Celanese reasserted the statutory employee issue, along with the premature jury deliberation and prejudicial video issues. (See Mot. for JNOV at 3; Mot. for New Trial at 2-3; R. pp. 2083-84, 2090.) Moreover, also relevant to this appeal, Celanese asserted that the verdict was grossly excessive when compared to other mesothelioma verdicts and was improperly based on the jury’s premature deliberations and the prejudicial video. (See generally Mot. for New Trial; Mot. for New Trial Nisi Remittitur; R. pp. 2075-87.) The trial court denied the post-trial motions in their entirety. (Order on Post-Trial Motions; R. pp. 1-46.) Celanese timely filed a notice of appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dennis Seay worked as an employee of Daniel Construction Company (“Daniel”) from 1969 to 1978. (D. Seay, Tr. p. 359:8-24; R. p. 540.) During this time, Daniel was the exclusive maintenance provider at the Celanese facility where Seay worked, which facility manufactured synthetic resins and fibers. (See D. Seay, Tr. p. 362:12-24; Court’s Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 67:2-7; R. pp. 547, 1794-95.) This facility did *not* produce any asbestos containing products. (See D. Seay, Tr. p. 360:16-21; R. p. 544.) Seay was assigned exclusively to the Celanese facility, working initially as a millwright helper for a few months and later as a millwright for the remainder of his tenure. (See *id.* pp. 359:8-360:3; R. pp. 543-44.) Celanese relied on Daniel to handle the maintenance and repair work at the facility. (See D. Seay, Tr. p. 362:12-24; Court’s

Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 67:2-7; R. pp. 546, 1794-95.) All maintenance, including maintenance of critical manufacturing equipment, was done by Daniel employees. (*See* D. Seay, Tr. p. 362:12-24; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 67:2-7; R. pp. 546, 1794-95.) Seay worked on various elements of the equipment such as pumps, valves, and gear boxes, all of which were key components of the process lines used in the facility's manufacturing operations. (*See* D. Seay, Tr. pp. 382:20-383:23, 416:19-21, 418:3-11, 419:2-420:10; R. pp. 566, 600, 602-04.)

During the time he worked for Daniel, Seay used products containing asbestos—and was exposed to asbestos dust—in connection with the repair work he performed. (*Id.* at 393:7-11, 408:17-409:12; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 27:12-28:5; R. pp. 577, 592-93, 1779-80.) One of the Daniel millwrights' key job duties, for example, involved replacing gaskets made of asbestos on steam condensers. (*See* D. Seay, Tr. pp. 406:19-409:18; Court's Ex. 2, R. Thompson Video Dep. at 52:14-17, 54:4-21, 56:14-24; R. pp. 590-93, 1812-14.) According to Seay, on occasion the old gaskets could be easily removed. (D. Seay pp. 407:12-408:16, 436:13-437:7; R. pp. 591-92, 620-21.) However, most of the time the gaskets would degrade over time and become difficult to remove. (*See* D. Seay, Tr. pp. 399:17-400:15, 407:12-409:18, 439:1-440:9; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 41:6-21; R. pp. 583-84, 591-93, 623-24, 1785.) The removal of these gaskets would sometimes create dust. (*See* D. Seay, Tr. pp. 380:23-381:6, 408:17-18, 437:4-7; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 47:10-48:10; R. pp. 564-65, 592, 621, 1787-88.)

The first step of the gasket replacement process sometimes involved stripping back the asbestos insulation covering the piping on the machinery. (D. Seay, Tr. pp. 371:7-372:10, 378:5-379:4, 439:1-440:9; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 39:25-44:22; Court's Ex. 2, R.

Thompson Video Dep. at 65:18-66:01, 108:21-109:14; R. pp. 555-56, 562-63, 623-24, 1784-86, 1817, 1826.) This allowed the millwright to access the flanges where the gaskets were located. (D. Seay, Tr. pp. 371:7-372:10, 378:5-379:4, 439:1-440:9; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 39:25-44:22; Court's Ex. 2, R. Thompson Video Dep. at 65:18-66:01, 108:21-109:14; R. pp. 555-56, 562-63, 623-24, 1784-86, 1817, 1826.) Approximately 25 to 30% of the time, Seay had to scrape off excess insulation from the flange with a screwdriver or putty knife. (D. Seay, Tr. pp. 439:1-440:9; R. pp. 623-24.) For particularly difficult repairs, Seay used a wire brush or a brush powered by a drill motor. (*Id.*) He then removed the old gasket and installed a new one, which he cut from a sheet to ensure a correct fit. (*Id.* at 399:17-400:20, 406:19-407:25; R. pp. 583-84, 590-91.) Seay testified that 95 to 98% of the time the old gaskets would be degraded and not immediately pop out of place. (*Id.* at 408:19-23; R. p. 592.) Therefore, he typically had to remove the old gaskets with a scraper, putty knife, or wire brush. (*See id.* at 399:17-400:20, 406:19-409:3; Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 39:25-42:24, 43:14-44:22; R. pp. 583-84, 590-93, 1784-86.) John Crane was one manufacturer of the asbestos-containing gaskets that Daniel millwrights used in completing such work. (D. Seay, Tr. p. 383:24-384:9; R. pp. 567-68.) Seay testified that he probably worked with John Crane products the most often. (*See id.* at 384:7-19; R. p. 568.)

Seay contracted mesothelioma. (Court's Ex. 1, D. Seay Video Dep. at 11:21-12:10; R. pp. 1773-74.) Whether Seay contracted mesothelioma, however, is not at issue in this appeal. Rather, the critical issues at trial involved whether Celanese and/or John Crane were negligent and should be held liable for that harm.² (Verdict Form; Tr. pp. 1443:16-1459:14; R. pp. 68-69,

² Plaintiffs pursued a products liability theory against John Crane and a premises liability theory for Celanese, both claims sounding in negligence. (Jury Charges, Tr. p. 1443:16-1459:14; R. pp. 1627-43.)

1627-43.) For mesothelioma, the calculus involved determining whether the actions of either of these entities was a “substantial factor” in Seay’s exposure to asbestos. (Jury Charges, Tr. p. 1457:21-1458:5; R. pp. 1641-42.) Seay brought suit against numerous Defendants, many of whom were dismissed prior to trial, alleging that they all had some role in causing the harm. The jury ultimately rendered a verdict finding that Celanese was negligent and should be held liable to Seay for the harm that he suffered. (Verdict Form; Tr. 1472:10-1473:16; R. pp. 68-69, 1656-57.)

Much of the trial record consisted of evidence and testimony detailing the dangers of asbestos, the properties and characteristics of mesothelioma (*i.e.*, how someone could contract the disease and the symptoms they would experience as a result); what was generally known about asbestos at the time Seay was employed with Daniel; and what Daniel and Celanese allegedly knew about the dangers of asbestos. Respondents also introduced testimony from Seay and his family regarding his experience with mesothelioma and how it impacted his life to support their claims for damages.

The issues raised by Celanese concern four critical errors of law that occurred in this action. The essential facts related to each issue are set forth in greater detail below.

ARGUMENT

The trial court’s judgment should be reversed for several reasons. First, the trial court erred in determining that Seay was not Celanese’s statutory employee and by denying Celanese’s motions on that basis. The trial court improperly relied on inapposite case law, and it misinterpreted modern precedent to support its erroneous conclusion. Second, the trial court erred by denying Celanese’s motion for a mistrial and motion for a new trial in light of the jury’s premature deliberations. Third, the trial court erred by permitting admission of a highly

prejudicial video recording of Seay in hospice crying out in pain for Jesus to help him. Finally and fourth, the trial court erred by failing to grant Celanese's motion for a new trial in light of the jury's grossly excessive verdict, which was out of line with other mesothelioma verdicts from that time period and was improperly based on the jury's premature deliberations and the prejudicial video.

I. SEAY WAS CELANESE'S STATUTORY EMPLOYEE UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

Celanese contended that Seay was its statutory employee, and thus the Workers' Compensation Act provided the exclusive remedy. The trial court incorrectly rejected this argument with distinguishable facts and legal conclusions—relying on cases involving transportation workers and construction workers—and asserting that such cases controlled the result here. Furthermore, in reaching this decision, the trial court ignored several analogous South Carolina cases in which the courts concluded that a maintenance worker was a statutory employee. This constitutes error, and thus this Court should reverse and instruct that judgment be entered in favor of Celanese.

A. South Carolina law on statutory employees is to be construed liberally.

The Workers' Compensation Act is the *exclusive remedy* against an employer for an employee's work-related accident or injury. *Fuller v. Blanchard*, 358 S.C. 536, 595 S.E.2d 831, 833 (2004); *see also Strickland v. Galloway*, 348 S.C. 644, 646, 560 S.E.2d 448, 449 (Ct. App. 2002) (“In circumstances in which the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act covers an employee's work-related accident, the Act provides the exclusive remedy against the employer.”). “The exclusivity provision of the Act precludes an employee from maintaining a tort action against an employer where the employee sustains a work-related injury.” *Edens v. Bellini*, 359 S.C. 433, 441-42, 597 S.E.2d 863, 867 (Ct. App. 2004).

“Coverage under the Workers’ Compensation Act depends on the existence of an employment relationship.” *Id.* at 439, 597 S.E.2d 863, 866. Whether or not an employer-employee relationship exists is a jurisdictional question. *Id.* at 440, 597 S.E.2d at 866 (quoting *Nelson v. Yellow Cab Co.*, 349 S.C. 589, 594, 564 S.E.2d 110, 113 (2002); *S.C. Workers’ Compensation Comm’n v. Ray Covington Realtors, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 546, 459 S.E.2d 302 (1995)).³ Because the determination of whether a worker is a statutory employee is jurisdictional “the question on appeal is one of law.” *Harrell v. Pineland Plantation, Ltd.*, 337 S.C. 313, 320, 523 S.E.2d 766, 769 (1999). “As a result, this court has the **power and duty** to review the entire record and decide the jurisdictional facts in accord with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Harrell*, 337 S.C. at 320, 523 S.E.2d at 769 (emphasis added); *see also Glass v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 325 S.C. 198, 202, 482 S.E.2d 49, 51 (1997). Further, “[i]t is South Carolina’s policy to resolve jurisdictional doubts in favor of the **inclusion** of employers and employees under the Workers’ Compensation Act.” *Edens*, 359 S.C. at 440, 597 S.E.2d at 867 (emphasis added).

The Workers Compensation Code expands this inclusion to workers of subcontractors and states:

³ In *Sabb v. S.C. State Univ.*, 350 S.C. 416, 423, 567 S.E.2d 231, 234 (2002), the Supreme Court stated that the “exclusivity” provision of the workers’ compensation code “does not involve subject matter jurisdiction.” *Id.* As the Court explained, a tort action is “clearly a part of the general class of cases which the court of common pleas has subject matter jurisdiction to hear,” and thus the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiff’s claims. *Id.* Despite the court of common pleas having subject matter jurisdiction, however, the Court explained that “certain cases may be taken from the trial court’s original jurisdiction by the General Assembly.” *Id.* at 423, 567 S.E.2d at 234. For workers’ compensation, the Court noted that the “General Assembly has vested the Commission with exclusive original jurisdiction over the types of claims made by [plaintiff],” such that the trial court was “divested” of original jurisdiction. *Id.* As a subsequent Court of Appeals decision explained, cases since *Sabb* have still used Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP to dismiss workers compensation cases. *See Posey v. Proper Mold & Eng’g, Inc.*, 378 S.C. 210, 223, 661 S.E.2d 395, 402 (Ct. App. 2008).

When any person, in this section and §§ 42-1-420 and 42-1-430 referred to as “owner,” undertakes to perform or execute any work which is a part of his trade, business or occupation and contracts with any other person (in this section and §§ 42-1-420 to 42-1-450 referred to as “subcontractor”) for the execution or performance by or under such subcontractor of the whole or any part of the work undertaken by such owner, the owner shall be liable to pay to any workman employed in the work any compensation under this Title which he would have been liable to pay if the workman had been immediately employed by him.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-10-40. As the Court of Appeals has explained, this means that, “depending on the nature of the work performed by the subcontractor, an employee of a subcontractor may be considered a statutory employee of the owner or upstream employer.” *Voss v. Ramco, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 560, 566, 482 S.E.2d 582, 585 (Ct. App. 1997).

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