THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2013-CP-42-03915  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000227

---

RECEIVED  
MAY 11 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

Angie Keene, Individually and as  
Personal Representative of the Estate of  
Dennis Seay, Deceased, and Linda Seay, ..... Respondents,

v.

CNA Holdings, LLC, ..... Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Chris Panatier (pro hac vice)  
Kevin W. Paul (pro hac vice)  
SIMON GREENSTONE  
PANATIER BARTLETT PC  
3232 McKinney Ave., Ste 610  
Dallas, TX 75204  
(214) 276-7680  
(214) 276-7699 (facsimile)

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

## ARGUMENT

*First*, Hoechst Celanese was not Mr. Seay's statutory employer. Precedent says each case is governed by its own facts, and the facts here illustrate Hoechst's business was manufacturing, not construction or maintenance. Mr. Seay's work was undoubtedly important, but it was not an important part of Hoechst's "business."

This result fulfills the purpose of the statutory employee doctrine. The doctrine is designed to protect injured workers: statutory employees may not sue in tort because their remedy is found in a workers' compensation claim. But a workers' compensation claim was never available to Mr. Seay. Hoechst's argument thwarts this doctrine's purpose.

*Second*, the trial court correctly found the jury did not engage in premature deliberations. This issue is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. The record contains ample facts supporting the court's decision.

*Third*, the trial court did not err in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the video showing Mr. Seay in agonizing pain. There was no timely objection to the video, this issue is reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard, and the video was cumulative to other evidence. Plaintiffs' counsel even agreed not to reference the video for the remainder of trial. Hoechst's argument is barred, and even if it was not, any error was harmless.

*Finally*, the verdicts are not excessive. Dennis Seay died an excruciatingly painful death. He suffered for many years and his family has endured profound harm. The court charged the jury—consistent with precedent—that there is no yardstick for measuring pain and suffering and that nobody is competent to measure the value of a parent or spouse. The awards reflect the severity of this family's injuries. This Court should affirm.

**I. The trial court correctly found Dennis Seay was not Hoechst Celanese's statutory employee. Hoechst's "trade or business" was manufacturing, not construction or maintenance.**

Hoechst Celanese was not Mr. Seay's statutory employer. Precedent says each case is governed by its own facts, and the facts here illustrate Hoechst's business was manufacturing; not construction or maintenance. This result furthers the purpose of the statutory employee doctrine, which is to extend coverage for workplace injuries, not leave an injured worker without any avenue for compensation. This Court should affirm.

**a. This is a case-specific analysis controlled by whether the injured worker was laboring "in" the putative employer's "trade or business."**

The statutory employee doctrine is a creature of statute. Section 42-1-400 of the Code (2015) is part of the Workers' Compensation Act. The statute explains when a business owner uses a subcontractor "to perform or execute any work which is a part of his trade, business, or occupation," the business owner is liable to pay workers' compensation benefits as if the injured subcontractor had been the business' own employee.

This doctrine's purpose is to protect workers. In *Harrell v. Pineland Plantation*, the Supreme Court explained the statute exists in the event someone's direct employer (an intermediate subcontractor) is financially irresponsible. By making the upstream business owner liable for workers' compensation benefits, workers who labor in the business receive "double protection." 337 S.C. 313, 328, 523 S.E.2d 766, 773-774 (1999). Other cases use similar language. *Glover v. United States*, 337 S.C. 307, 311, 523 S.E.2d 763, 764 (1999).

This doctrine is an exception—it extends workers' compensation coverage even though there is no employment relationship between the injured worker and the upstream

business. *Collins v. Seko*, 412 S.C. 283, 289, 772 S.E.2d 510, 514 (2015). The statute's operative language—that the work be “part of the owner's trade, business, or occupation”—differentiates the situation where a business is unfairly avoiding its obligation to cover people who are working “in” the business from the situation where a business hires outside contractors to do “outside” work. *Harrell*, 337 S.C. at 323, 523 S.E.2d at 771.

There is no formula for judging whether an injured worker was laboring “in” a putative employer's “trade or business.” The best starting point is *Ost v. Integrated Products*, which gleaned three tests from precedent: is the work *an important part* of the putative employer's trade or business; is the work *necessary, or essential to, or an integral part* of the putative employer's operation; or is the work *customarily performed by* the putative employer's regular employees? 296 S.C. 241, 244-245, 371 S.E.2d 796, 798-799 (1988). These tests are constantly repeated in precedent, and many precedents also repeat a conspicuous warning—*Ost* explains “no easily applied formula can be laid down” and “[e]ach case must be determined on its own facts.” 296 S.C. at 244, 371 S.E.2d at 798; see also *Olmstead v. Shakespeare*, 354 S.C. 421, 426, 581 S.E.2d 483, 486 (2003); *Glass v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 325 S.C. 198, 201, 482 S.E.2d 49, 50-51 (1997).

**b. Mr. Seay was not working in Hoechst's trade or business. Hoechst manufactured polyester fiber; it was not a construction or maintenance company.**

Mr. Seay was not working in Hoechst's business. Hoechst made polyester fiber. It was not a construction maintenance company. That is why Hoechst contracted with Daniels.

A former Hoechst employee explained Hoechst is a large chemical company; at one time perhaps the second largest chemical company in the world. (R.p.976, lines 22-24). He

said Hoechst has “many different businesses” including fibers, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and agrochemicals. (R.p.977, lines 5-7). Hoechst has “many” different manufacturing plants. (R.p.1313, lines 8-9). In fact, in the 1970s Hoechst manufactured a product containing asbestos. (R.p.1313, lines 14-17). Hoechst’s plant in Spartanburg made polyester fiber. (R.p.1256, line 23 - p.1257, line 1; p.1313, lines 7-13).

Hoechst’s employees worked in the manufacturing process. The same Hoechst witness explained Hoechst employees “were responsible for making polyester and the related products.” (R.p.1263, lines 13-19). This was consistent with other testimony. Mr. Seay said Hoechst employees were “production workers” doing work that was significantly different than his work. (R.p.2060, lines 67:12-68:11). Hoechst emphasized this in closing argument, telling the jury Hoechst did not have a maintenance department when Mr. Seay worked there. (R.p.1592, lines 14-22). Hoechst focused on making fiber. *Id.* Hoechst workers and Daniels employees “did not work near each other.” *Id.*

Daniels is a construction company. (R.p.1494, lines 18-24). As of 1964, it had built about 400 manufacturing plants in twelve states, more or less. (R.p.1482, lines 1-4).

In fact, Daniels built this plant; the same plant where Mr. Seay was exposed to asbestos. (R.p.1482, lines 14-15). Daniels also provided maintenance services to plants across the country. (R.p.1484, lines 2-8). Daniels performed all maintenance work at this plant until sometime in the 1980s or 1990s. (R.p.1391, lines 9-12).

Hoechst’s argument focused on the fact that Mr. Seay’s work was important. Hoechst said it could not keep making polyester unless it maintained its system. (R.p.137, lines 1-5; p.1513, lines 12-15; p.1684, line 24 - p.1686, line 7).

The trial court noted this argument's shortcomings: every business needs preventative maintenance and Mr. Seay's work was obviously important because businesses do not hire people to do unnecessary and wasteful work. (R.p.140, lines 14-23; p.1686, line 18 - p.1687, line 6). The court correctly observed statutory employment does not hinge on whether the work is important, but on whether the work is an important "part of" Hoechst's trade or business.

The court used the correct test in articulating its ruling. It noted there was no evidence Hoechst had a maintenance division or had used employees to perform work like Mr. Seay performed. (R.pp.26 & 60-61). The court rejected the defense because although maintenance was undoubtedly important, maintenance was not a part of Hoechst's trade or business. (R.p.1514, lines 14-24; p.1707, lines 16-18).

The record supports the court's ruling. Hoechst's core business did not involve construction and maintenance. Hoechst did not have employees doing this work and it had no maintenance division. Instead it contracted with Daniels, whose business *was* maintenance. Hoechst used the different nature of these businesses to its advantage, arguing it contracted with Daniels precisely *because* Daniels was in construction. (R.p.1590, lines 4-14). Hoechst claimed Daniels was an asbestos abatement contractor, (R.p.1365, lines 5-23), and argued Daniels' work required special skills. (R.p.1262, line 23 - p.1263, line 1).

Daniels was not an asbestos abatement contractor, (R.p.1499, lines 6-22), but Hoechst's point stands: these two companies had different businesses. Hoechst limited its business to manufacturing and it was Hoechst's prerogative to do so. Mr. Seay was not working in that business. For that reason, he is not a statutory employee.

**c. This reasoning is faithful to precedent, which the trial court cited in its orders.**

The trial court relied on the two precedents that are the most instructive: *Olmstead v. Shakespeare* and *Raines v. Gould*. That reliance was correct. Precedent recognizes that while a business may not unfairly evade the Workers' Compensation Act by using outside workers to perform core operations, a business *does* have the freedom to craft its own identity and set boundaries for what its business is and what its business is not.

*Olmstead v. Shakespeare* contains the declarative acknowledgment that the Supreme Court has changed how it views activities constituting "part of" a trade or business. *Olmstead* recites familiar language—the three tests and the fact that each case must rest on its facts—and then explains even though a task is important, it does not follow that such task is "part of" that business. 354 S.C. at 423-427, 581 S.E.2d at 484-486.

The *Olmstead* case is straightforward. Shakespeare designed and manufactured fiberglass products. The injured worker was a truck driver. The Court explained although delivering products was important to Shakespeare's business, it does not follow that delivery is *part of* Shakespeare's business. *Id.* at 426, 581 S.E.2d at 486. Shakespeare did not own any delivery trucks. None of its employees worked in delivery beyond loading cargo.

The same analysis applies here: maintenance was important to Hoechst, but Hoechst did not have a maintenance division and none of its employees did preventative maintenance. The trial court noted this prominently in its orders. (R.pp.26, 59).

*Olmstead's* timing was significant. It came three years after the Court's decision in *Abbott v. The Limited*, also involving common carriers (delivery drivers). 338 S.C. 161, 526

S.E.2d 513 (2000). One of the arguments in *Olmstead* was that *Abbott* had been a limited decision: delivering goods to a retailer was supposedly different than delivering goods directly to a customer. Although both tasks were important, Shakespeare argued delivery to a retailer was not part of the manufacturing business but delivery to a customer *was* part of that business. *Olmstead*, 354 S.C. at 425, 581 S.E.2d at 485.

The Supreme Court rejected the argument, explaining “*Abbott* represents a change in this state’s jurisprudence on what activity constitutes ‘part of [an owner’s] trade business or occupation’ under [the statutory employee statute].” *Olmstead*, 354 S.C. at 426, 581 S.E.2d at 486. The Court explained *Abbott* “likely conflicts with cases other than the ones we explicitly overruled in [] the *Abbott* opinion” and that “all prior cases” were overruled to the extent they conflicted. *Olmstead*, 354 S.C. at 426-427, 581 S.E.2d at 486.

The trial court correctly perceived Hoechst was re-litigating precedent. At bottom, Hoechst argued Mr. Seay was a statutory employee because maintenance was important. If that analysis carried, *Olmstead* would have been written differently. It would have included explicit language limiting its analysis. It does not have limiting language.

*Olmstead* is written broadly. It speaks of a change in “*the state’s* jurisprudence.” 354 S.C. at 426, 581 S.E.2d at 486 (emphasis added). This applies to more than a single application: It modifies the full scope of the statute’s effect. *Id.* The Court explained this change likely conflicted with other, unnamed cases. *Id.* Hoechst said the case was narrow, but the trial court correctly saw *Olmstead* as having wide impact. (R.pp.137-138).

This Court’s decision in *Raines v. Gould* predates *Olmstead* but follows the same sort of logic. *Raines* held an electrician installing an electrical system at a manufacturing plant

was not the statutory employee of the plant's owner. *Raines*, 288 S.C. 541, 343 S.E.2d 655 (Ct. App. 1986). The plant's owner—Gould, Inc.—had been involved in the construction of several facilities, but it did not have a construction division and no construction work was performed by its regular employees. *Id.* at 547, 343 S.E.2d at 659. Instead, Gould prepared designs for the facilities or oversaw the design process, and in some instances Gould provided supervising personnel giving general assistance to contractors and subcontractors. *Id.* This Court reasoned “[e]very manufacturer must have a plant, but this fact alone does not make the work of constructing a plant part of [a manufacturer’s] trade or business.” *Id.*

*Raines* and *Olmstead* operate on a common principle: A business may not thwart the Workers’ Compensation Act and its purpose by using outside workers to perform the business’s core operation, but a business also has freedom to craft its own identity and decide what its business is and what its business is not.

Some manufacturers may choose to make transportation a part of their business. A case like *Posey v. Proper Mold & Engineering* is consistent with *Olmstead* because the manufacturer in *Posey* owned a tractor, a trailer, and had two drivers working in delivery. 378 S.C. 210, 220-221, 661 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2008). That manufacturer’s business included transportation. Shakespeare’s business in *Olmstead* did not.

Some manufacturers will make construction and maintenance a part of their business. Mr. Seay’s case easily reconciles with cases like *Edens v. Bellini* and *Wheeler v. Morrison Machine*, where maintenance workers were held to be statutory employees because those manufacturing plants had regular employees working in maintenance or had used regular employees in maintenance before. *Edens*, 359 S.C. 433, 443-444, 597 S.E.2d 863, 868-869

(Ct. App. 2004); *Wheeler*, 313 S.C. 440, 443, 438 S.E.2d 264, 266 (Ct. App. 1993). The trial court gave another example in the hearing below, differentiating between Hoechst and DuPont (the manufacturer in a prior case) by noting DuPont had a construction division, a history of construction activity, and was “pretty much” in the construction business. (R.p.1685, lines 6-11). Hoechst’s situation was “a far different situation.” (R.p.1685, l. 10).

**d. The cases Hoechst cites are meaningfully different from this case and Hoechst seeks a ruling violating the statute’s purpose instead of honoring it.**

*Smith v. T.H. Snipes & Sons* contains no analysis and predates the *Olmstead* decision. *Smith*, 306 S.C. 289, 411 S.E.2d 439 (1991). *Boseman v. Pacific Mills* also predates *Olmstead* and is questionable because the injured worker used special equipment. Compare *Boseman*, 193 S.C. 479, 8 S.E.2d 878 (1940) with *Glass*, 325 S.C. at 202, 482 S.E.2d at 51 (explaining “where repairs are major, specialized, or of the sort which the employer is not equipped to handle with its own work force, they are not part of the business.”).

The manufacturers in *Woodard v. Westvaco*, *Gentry v. Milliken*, and *Marchbanks v. Duke Power* had used regular employees for the same work they outsourced to subcontractors. *Woodard*, 315 S.C. 329, 338, 433 S.E.2d 890, 895 (Ct. App. 1993); *Gentry v. Milliken & Co.*, 307 S.C. 235, 236, 414 S.E.2d 180, 181 (Ct. App. 1992); *Marchbanks*, 190 S.C. 336, 366, 2 S.E.2d 825, 837 (1939). Hoechst did not use employees to do maintenance until years after Mr. Seay left, and although Hoechst was free to change its business at any time, there is no authority for applying that change to Mr. Seay after the fact.

*Singleton v. J. P. Stevens & Co.* is a Federal Case involving an electrician repairing an electrical system at a mill. 533 F. Supp. 887, 888 (D.S.C. 1982). It applies South

Carolina law, but it pre-dates *Olmstead* by 20 years and is inconsistent with this Court's decision involving electrical repair work—*Raines v. Gould*.

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